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To my grandfather
the king of empty heroism,
and to my father
 who overcame the legacy
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But if you refuse to fight this righteous war,
 you will be turning aside from your duty.

—BHAGAVAD GITA




This could be REALLY dangerous … ! Just have a look at the size of those teeth … ! I’ll have to be SUPER careful! No room for even one mistake … ! Oops! Watch it! Yow! Didn’t I tell ya?
Okay, one more try. Watch me!!

—STEVE IRWIN, CROCODILE HUNTER







CONTENTS

Map

PART I

     1 | The Garden of Reflection

     2 | The Goldstone

     3 | Britannia

     4 | Gang Wars

     5 | Laughing Man

     6 | Heaven, Earth, and Man

     7 | The Emperor of the North

     8 | Showtime

     9 | Project Bugs



PART II

     10 | Extensive Transformation and Uniting with Heaven

     11 | The Chink

     12 | The Spook

     13 | Steve & Patsy & Laura & Lisa

     14 | Project Lazarus

     15 | Ho! Ho! Ho!

     16 | Sugarland

     17 | Steve Found



PART III

     18 | Sex with Steve

     19 | Go Back, Jack, Do It Again

     20 | Beware of Cruel Dogs

     21 | Port of Plenty

     22 | The Biggest Little Town in Cambodia

     23 | Dawn of a New Millennium

     24 | The Ghost of Manila

     25 | “Ping”

     26 | Amok

     27 | City of the Living Dead

     28 | Can We Start Again, Please?



Epilogue | Impunity



Photo Inserts

Sources

Acknowledgments

Appendix





PART I

[image: ]




CHAPTER 1
THE GARDEN OF REFLECTION

[image: ]


This sealed urn contains nothing but the mortal ashes of the late Mr. Steven Wong.

—ROGER CERDEÑA, FUNERAL SERVICE DIRECTOR, PASAY CITY, METRO MANILA






There is no marker where the Paper Fan’s ashes are buried. The Schlipfs, Kosakas, and Holts are remembered with bronze plaques, but the Triad official has only an empty square of fescue to show for his life. “You’re sure this is his plot?” I ask Kein Battistone, the Forest Lawn Cemetery’s family service counselor.

Kein takes a step forward from where he stands discreetly behind me. Hands behind his back he bows slightly as he says, “Absolutely, Mr. Gould, that’s his plot, I’m positive.” He pulls from his breast pocket a photocopied map, shielding it from the rain with his palm. “Wong, Steven Lik Man. 1992. The Garden of Reflection. Row 2–C, Plot 582.” He kneels and pats the forlorn-looking bare spot. “Steve’s urn is right under here, I can assure you.”

I consult my own map and scan the terrain. Everything is as Chuck “the Chink” Gough drew it after Steve’s death. I’m eight paces east of a pretty copse with a pond in the middle. Orange carp are nuzzling the surface of the black pool and starlings squeal among the maples. Chuck the Chink, who is actually a white man, was part of Steve’s crew at the height of its ride. “I know Steve’s happy in that Garden of Reflection, Terry,” he told me. “He liked the birds and the fish, ya know. Also, the family’s got a great fucking view when they pay respects.”

I orient Chuck’s scrawled word “mountains” against the checkerboard of plaques marching up the hillside to the view, but white clouds hide the Coast Range. It has been warm and sunny for several days leading up to this ninth anniversary of Steve’s death; then, last night, an Aleutian wind blew in, laying down a sad gray shroud over Vancouver.

Kein has turned his eyes to the hidden mountains too, and appears to be thinking of something pleasant. He’s a young goateed fellow, his khaki shirt good-naturedly adorned with a Bugs Bunny tie. He seems like the kind of person I can talk to. “Key-in and Bat-a-stone,” he told me in his office, explaining how to pronounce his name. He’s done me a big favor, leading me through the thousands of graves in the rain to find Steve.

“Is it common when the family buries ashes that they don’t put a marker down?” I ask.

“Is it common?” Kein replies. He massages his goatee in thought. “Well, the marker takes two or three months to make, and then the family usually assesses their financial situation. Sometimes a family says they can’t afford it, and it just gets left there without a marker. There’s lots of different reasons. May I ask how you know Steve?”

I hesitate—a Chinese man in a trench coat has wandered up and is standing 30 feet away, looking down, a bouquet of flowers hanging from his hand. He leans forward and places the flowers on the grass, cups his hands and brings them to his forehead in a pronam. I’d thought about flowers myself, but when it came to paying for them at my local supermarket I broke into laughter. I gave them to my wife instead.

“I’m a journalist,” I tell Kein, when the man has strolled away. “I used to write about Steve—I’m writing about him now. But I’ve never been to his grave site.”

Kein looks at me curiously. “What did he do that you’re writing about him?”

“Oh, he had an interesting life,” I say. “And an interesting death.”

“Ohhh-kay!” Kein nods and narrows his eyes, surveying my pad, camera, and shoulder pack with new understanding. “So I guess he was murdered then, or—”

“There were things that went on.”

“Well, it must be drug-related. We get them allll the time. For us it’s like a common occurrence. That’s a reason there wouldn’t be a marker here. If he did something wrong, or if his death in some way involved criminals, then the family’s leaving it unmarked, because they don’t want the people to know where he is.”

“To tell the truth, Kein,” I say, “he was on the run.”

“There you go! That tells me a lot right there. The family doesn’t want anybody to know where he is.”

I ponder Steve’s blank patch, thinking of his parents, brothers, and nephews, not to mention his half a dozen mistresses, one of them married to a billion-dollar gambling racket. “It’s already been nine years,” I say.

“Well then, he must have had some heavyweight people after him. Maybe the family’s waiting a nice round ten years. Enough time for the people who were after him to forget. But then, you obviously haven’t forgotten him,” Kein laughs.

“No, not me,” I say, and snap a picture of the grass, stomped flat by the family of the Schlipfs. “I’ll never forget Steve.”

As we walk back towards the paved path I stop, dig my wallet out and give Kein my card. “Maybe you can let me know if Steve has any visitors.”

Kein tsks his tongue in regret. “I don’t know if I can do that for you. But some inside information I can give you is that we have only three spaces left here. Three hundred and ninety dollars.”

“Is that a good deal?”

“A deal!? Are you kidding? Whispering Pine is two thousand.” He points across the lawn. “Heartland is five thousand. So for this location, yes, you’ve got a real bargain. In fact, in fact—” he says, checking his map, “you can have one right here if you want it.”

“Ten steps from Steve,” I say, looking down between my feet. If I could collar him that way, I’d do it in a second.

Steve’s funeral was held on a hot, mid-August afternoon in 1992, two weeks before he was to have gone on trial for masterminding a heroin conspiracy, and not long after a judge had returned his passport so he could travel to Hong Kong to meet his fiancée’s parents. A dozen Vancouver gangsters, gang tarts, lawyers, and a couple of undercover cops from the Coordinated Law Enforcement Unit filed into Mount Pleasant Funeral Home to pay their respects to the two-foot urn about to be buried beneath the Garden of Reflection. Some of the attendees, like Steve’s mother, Yue Kim Wong, were distraught with grief. Others, like Chuck the Chink, were steely-jawed and stoic. Still others—the cops come to mind—could hardly suppress their smirks. Steve, they’d learned, had hastily purchased a million dollars in life insurance just before flying to the romantic East to meet the parents of his future wife, a woman whom Steve had named in an affidavit as Patsy Chan. Yet four days ago Steve’s mom had told investigators from the RCMP that she’d never heard of Patsy Chan, and that, while her 28-year-old son had a slew of girlfriends, she knew of none he wanted to marry.

I had first met Steve in early 1990, just after he’d beaten to death a rival mobster on a crowded Chinatown street. At the time, Steve was the manager of a Vancouver bodyguard firm called Kouzins Security, staffed by his murderous, 30-man Gum Wah gang. Owned by a convicted heroin trafficker named Ray Chau—the son of a senior partner in the gambling empire of Macau’s famous billionaire, Stanley Ho—the chief function of Kouzins was to protect heroin barons as they got off the plane from Hong Kong and Macau. Patsy Chan, one of Steve’s many mistresses, was Ray Chau’s wife.

Despite his rarefied connections and busy sex life, Steven Wong was not very impressive-looking. He was five foot four inches tall and weighed 150 pounds—a seemingly amiable pudgeball with thick glasses, a high, almost childlike voice, and a habit of punctuating his sentences with a schoolboy’s nervous giggle. With only an eighth-grade education and a hood’s sense of fashion, he struck most people—including the judge who gave him back his passport—as the antithesis of a sophisticated Asian mobster. Nevertheless, for the Mounties and the Vancouver city police who had been chasing Wong for years, he typified Asian criminal success. Locally he was the boss of Vancouver’s most powerful street gang, whose top rankers referred to him by the delicate nickname Paper Fan—Tzs Sin. Internationally he was a fighting official in the 14K Triad—among the largest of the Chinese mafia groups and the one that dominated Macau. Outrageously wealthy for an unemployed 26-year-old, Steve retained a prominent Vancouver city councilman as his lawyer and had no adult criminal convictions, notwithstanding his numerous arrests on suspicion of murder, manslaughter, extortion, drug running, and credit card fraud. “He really is the big gangster in town,” the Asian Crime Squad’s Martin Turner once told me.

Born in Hong Kong, raised in New York’s Chinatown, a criminal since the age of 11, Wong had set up a masterful organization for the recruitment of Vancouver’s most vulnerable teens into a life of war. He portrayed himself to judges as doing nothing more than running a service organization for underprivileged immigrant youngsters, and spoke of his lieutenants as social workers initiating the dispossessed into his self-help society. But Wong used his charges mercilessly, molded them into monsters of themselves and then put them in the literal line of fire for his own benefit, until, one after another, their lives were as good as lost.

Between the time I first walked into his home and his death two and a half years later, I had betrayed Steve twice. Nevertheless, before and between betrayals, I had become his friend, and as much as anyone in his gang, I regretted his passing. Indeed, I felt partly responsible for the Mountie investigation, Project Bugs, which had led to his arrest and then to his extensive transformation and uniting with heaven.

I still regret not being there for his emotional send-off at Mount Pleasant. The morning of August 14, 1992, I received a cryptic call from the police advising me to stay away from what my contact described as the latest Steve caper, and because I’d lived under a Mountie protection program for half a year because of him, I thought that was a good idea. The police were certain Steve was still alive. He’d flown to Hong Kong in the company of a girlfriend and, after a hop to Macau and a meeting with some important colleagues, flown on alone to the island of Negros in the Philippines, where he was met by a Vancouver heroin dealer engaged to the daughter of the wealthiest and most influential lawyer on the island. A few days later, on July 19, 1992, Steve took a motorcycle-taxi excursion into remote mountains. Tragically, the taxi tipped over and Steve bumped his head on a rock and died. A senior inspector with the Philippine National Police, who was a friend of the lawyer’s, retrieved the body and turned it over to the heroin dealer, who ordered it cremated. The lawyer then put together a stack of affidavits and shipped the package to the Canadian embassy in Manila. Two weeks later a Canadian death certificate was issued and Steve’s sack of ashes was delivered to his parents.

This was a scam if the cops had ever seen one, although in the weeks following the funeral, the knowing smirks of the police turned to grimaces. The theoretically dead Steve could not be compelled to appear at his trial, and the judge soon severed his case from his coconspirators without issuing an arrest warrant for his failure to appear in court. With no warrant to justify an investment of resources, the Mounties were forced to terminate their investigation. By the spring of 1993 it looked like Steve had succeeded in making a mockery of the Mountie motto.

At that point, Steve became my life’s work, my life’s study, my obsession. The insurance companies had by then learned of a two-part TV exposé I’d done on the Paper Fan—the one that had put me under police protection—plus a subsequent article I’d written about his ruses and capers. Looking at forking over a million dollars to Steve’s parents, they put an ex-CIA agent on the case and called me. I jumped on the story and began phoning my police contacts. A month before Steve’s demise, the RCMP’s Drug Intelligence Unit had published one of my investigative articles in their eyes-only bulletin, distributed to drug agents across the continent. The intelligence officer who edited the bulletin had appended my phone number to the article, along with an invitation to readers to get in touch with me. I received calls from U.S. and Canadian undercover officers, members of strike forces, and federal customs officials. To all my cop sources I now related the most recent revelations concerning the Paper Fan’s disappearance. The insurance companies then put me in touch with agents in the Philippine National Bureau of Investigation, who asked me to become their back-channel to the RCMP until Canada launched an official investigation. By the first anniversary of Steve’s death my home office had turned into command central of the hunt for Steven Wong.

Today, Steve is no longer officially dead. Interpol has a Red Alert/Dangerous Person arrest warrant out for the Paper Fan, and his updated résumé reads like a Hollywood script—a postmortem panorama of organized criminal adventure that circles the Pacific Rim, from Macau to Japan, from Cambodia to the Philippines. All the years Steve’s urn has been interred in the Garden of Reflection he’s been thriving on the corruption of six state governments and their law enforcement agencies, so well protected by officials that even when the cops know where he is they can’t nab him. I’ve been around the world three times trying to arrange that nab, and one thing I’ve learned hunting Steve is that in his world it is often impossible to tell the fox from the hounds, or, for that matter, from the elect gentlemen who supposedly control the hunt. Living by a code of convenience that is far more natural to men than the rule of law, politicians, police, businessmen, and criminals often sprint along in one big pack, sometimes nipping each other’s heels, sometimes licking each other’s faces, and sometimes inviting one another back home for all-night mah-jongg parties. Forced to work according to their right-side-up rules, Canadian cops don’t have a chance of arresting Steve in his upside-down world.

On the other hand, I am unencumbered by international agreements and law enforcement protocols that are followed by good cops but not by bad cops. These days, the Paper Fan is back in the Philippines, well ensconced with police buddies and smack in the center of the astounding corruption that in early 2001 brought down President Joseph Estrada. But I’ve got a friend on the inside there, a senator who is the ex-chief of the Philippine National Police—currently being investigated by his senatorial colleagues for drug trafficking, murder, kidnapping, money laundering, and illegal wiretapping. The perfect cop to arrange the extraordinary rendition of the perfect gangster.

As I say goodbye to Kein Battistone and leave the Garden of Reflection, I admit to myself that I just can’t give up the chase. My next play in this game with no rules will be to book another ticket to Manila. Call it a journalist’s penchant for throwing good money after bad, or the desire to smash Steve as an icon to the underside of man, or just my own Steve-like urge to fight: all of it makes me helpless in the face of my strange hobby. I know I’m not alone in my pursuit, of course, but as a civilian and not a cop I do sometimes get lonely. More often than not, I’m just scared.


CHAPTER 2
THE GOLDSTONE
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We don’t hurt anybody unless we have to.

—STEVEN WONG






It was dusk on December 28, 1989, shoot-out time in Chinatown. On Keefer Street, in the heart of Vancouver’s Chinatown, the Goldstone Restaurant and Bakery was doing a brisk business. A huge fluorescent-lit eateria and pastry shop, the Goldstone was thick with cigarette smoke and deafening talk from hundreds of college and high school students on Christmas break. The sidewalk in front of the restaurant was crowded as well. Working-class people on their way home were stopping off to shop at the neighborhood’s fruit and vegetable stands, its curbside pushcarts, and herbal pharmacies. The smells of frying spices, pork and chicken, and the songlike calls of Cantonese street hawkers filled the air. Just blocks from Vancouver’s banking towers and underground malls, Chinatown’s narrow lanes always reminded tourists of a bygone era, when city stores were all open to the street and neighbors walked the sidewalk from shop to shop, chatting, arguing, and bargaining uninhibitedly with proprietors they had known for most of their lives.

If the old ways were preserved in these streets it wasn’t because the city had designated Chinatown a theme park for tourists; it was because Chinatown was a living ghetto, continuously inhabited by a single ethnic group since Vancouver’s incorporation in 1886. Around the corner from the Goldstone was the headquarters of the Wang Sang Company. Founded by Yip Sang in 1888, the company had served some of the 15,000 laborers who had emigrated from the Pearl River Delta to build the Canadian Pacific Railway and then had remained in B.C. after the job was completed. There were those still living in Chinatown who could trace their heritage back to the men who’d patronized the 32 Chinese laundries, general stores, and import firms that were up and running at the time the first steam engine pulled in from Toronto. As in many ethnic ghettos, however, insularity was both a chosen way of life and one imposed from without. The descendants of the men who had worked the gold fields up north and built the CPR also had a family connection to the night of February 24, 1887, when a mob of several hundred workers belonging to the Anti-Chinese League held a meeting at City Hall to protest the hiring of cheap Chinese labor, then descended on the district. The mob broke windows, set fire to businesses, and forcibly loaded the inhabitants onto wagons, driving them from Vancouver. Out of the hundreds of violent ruffians who participated in what came to be called “the expulsion of the Chinese,” the Vancouver police arrested only three.

The Anti-Chinese League’s effort at ethnic cleansing ultimately failed; by spring the immigrants had stubbornly returned to their ghetto. Nevertheless, 20 years later hundreds of thugs organized by a group called the Asiatic Exclusion League tried again. This time the ghetto’s residents boarded themselves up in the backs of their buildings and refused to leave. Not until just about every store window in the ghetto had been shattered and many buildings had been burned did the police finally move in. One rioter received a short jail sentence, a handful of others got slapped with small fines. When the Chinese complained bitterly to the federal government, Vancouver’s member of Parliament, R. G. MacPherson, blamed the victims for their misfortune, which he claimed was the natural outcome of their unchecked immigration into the province. “B.C. is white man’s country,” MacPherson declared. Robert Borden, a future prime minister of Canada, concurred: British Columbia had to be kept “a British and Canadian province, inhabited and dominated by men in whose veins runs the blood of those great pioneering races which built up and developed not only Western but Eastern Canada.”

Parliament responded to the racist rhetoric with a succession of “head-tax” laws that attempted to stem the Chinese influx, charging each immigrant up to $500 to enter Canada, then it cut off immigration entirely with the Chinese Immigration Act of 1923. Local restrictive covenants already prevented the Chinese from buying property outside their ghetto, and, denied the vote until 1947, all the residents could do was fecklessly protest each new insult and then turn inward. In their homeland the Chinese called Canada Gum Shan, “Gold Mountain,” but after settling in Chinatown they quickly learned it was a mountain that white Canadians did not want them to climb, nor was its gold something white Canadians wanted to share.

The fact that the Chinese had survived and prospered within this sea of hostility was largely due to their self-help societies. Most of Vancouver’s Chinese immigrants came from the Sam-yap and Sze-yap districts that surrounded the city of Guangzhou (then known as Canton) in Guangdong Province. These districts were home to hundreds of self-help societies, and when the Cantonese-speaking Chinese came to North America their societies came with them. Based on clans, districts, and professions, the societies were originally formed in response to the anarchy that had plagued the region for centuries. Fifteen hundred miles from a weak central authority in Beijing, the whole of southern coastal China was an orderless realm at the mercy of foreign invaders, pillaging bandits, and the rapaciousness of local warlords and civil servants. As a result, the societies assumed many of the responsibilities of a regular government. They offered schooling for the young, care of the sick, upkeep of temples, the running of workers’ guilds, and the maintenance of civil law through extralegal courts. Because they existed outside the political realm established by the latest predatory governor, conquering general, or imperial appointee, they were considered a threat by the “authorities,” and were therefore run in secret. So efficient were these “secret societies” that they gave rise to two telling Chinese sayings: “Armies protect the emperor, secret societies protect the people” and “The officials draw their power from the Law, the people from the secret societies.”

At the time of the passage of the Chinese Immigration Act, there were 54 societies in Vancouver’s Chinatown, including 26 based on clan, 12 on home district, and five on trades. Some were run in secret, such as the offshoots of the Hung Shan Tang, founded by Chinese gold miners in the northern town of Barkerville in 1863; others, like the Chun Wah Commercial Association, were run quite openly as legally constituted organizations. Most of the societies were meant to serve the needs of common people, and to this day Chinese-Canadians broadly refer to them as “benevolent associations,” as in the umbrella organization called the Chinese Benevolent Association. In the United States, where the Chinese faced violence and harassment even more egregious than in Canada, the tradition of self-help societies was carried on in the form of societies that came to be called tongs, the Cantonese word for “town hall,” the place where the newly formed associations met to plan ways to help recent arrivals with food, rent, and medical care.

Unfortunately, in China a number of secret societies also served as a cover for organized crime, and when the benevolent associations came to North America, so too did these groups. Known for centuries in China as the Hung Mun societies—of which the Hung Shan Tang was one—they would eventually be labeled “Triads” by Western police, after the three-cornered ritual flags found hanging in their ceremonial initiation lodges. In their early days the Triads were, like the original Italian Mafia, a patriotic movement whose members were sworn to overthrow foreign invaders and unite the country, but, like the Mafia, they had evolved in the early 20th century into a loose federation of over a hundred strictly criminal syndicates. In southern China—particularly Guangdong and Fujian Provinces—and in Hong Kong and Macau, almost all criminals beyond the level of street thief belonged to one or another of these often warring Triad societies, and they were famous for ruthlessly settling differences among themselves, collecting extortionate “dues” from Triad members and nonmembers alike, and supplying underworld services that included gambling, opium, and prostitution. Almost as soon as the Triads arrived in North America they established a licensing system that assigned these same activities to their members in Chinatowns across the continent. To the dismay of the legitimate citizens of the Chinese communities, the Triad gangsters were sometimes the very leaders of the benevolent associations and tongs meant to help the community.

The Vancouver police, who were slow to stop the riots in Chinatown in 1887 and 1907, were not aware of the finer points of these criminal secret societies, but they knew gangs were organizing and promoting prostitution and gambling in Chinatown, at least insofar as their own investigation revealed that Chinatown’s beat cops took payoffs from criminals in return for looking the other way. They also knew that Chinatown’s dens of iniquity had some clientele from outside the Chinese community—a fact that did not please Vancouver’s upholders of morality. Especially after opium was outlawed in Canada in 1908, Chinatown found itself constantly decried in the press as “depraved” because of its various corrupting vices. The pioneer city certainly had other underground haunts that catered to inebriation, sex for money, and jackpot gambling, and which were run by affiliations of shady white men who also preferred to act in secret, but the means to those same enjoyments in Chinatown seemed more nefarious to the white population. Instead of raucous bootleg drinking barns there were dark, utterly quiet, and weirdly odiferous opium dens. There were sing-song houses with mincing, bound-foot women in thin silk cheongsams instead of brothels with the more familiarly corseted white women. And there were gambling parlors that featured not poker but fan-tan and pai gow—high-stakes bead and domino games at which a worker might win or lose a week’s wages in half an hour. Perhaps most frightening of all, while white criminals enforced the rules in their underworld haunts with bruisers who brandished guns and clubs, the Chinese used gangs of black-garbed professionals, in the U.S. sometimes called “hatchetmen” because they wielded meat cleavers.

[image: ]

On this December eve in 1989, the storied opium dens were gone from Chinatown, replaced at the edges of the 10-square-block neighborhood by the heroin-shooting galleries of the welfare hotels. The sing-song joints too were a thing of the past, having evolved through the decades into massage parlors. But Chinatown’s legendary pai gow parlors and the secretive organizations that ran them remained. Two of the parlors were a couple of blocks from the Goldstone, one floor above the street in decrepit buildings erected not long after Yip Sang’s day. Legally registered “social clubs” requiring a membership fee to enter, the Hoi Ming Gwok and Duk Yee Entertainment Societies were crowded round the clock with patrons, many still in their teens. Although these kids won and lost thousands of dollars at a draw, the management of both establishments maintained to the police that the great mounds of $100 chips tossed into and pulled out of the pots every few seconds were “for entertainment value only”—as the large signs above the chip cages clearly announced.

In one corner of the Goldstone sat a group of about two dozen young people ranging in age from their late teens to middle 20s. The males of this bunch were known to the police as patrons of the pai gow parlors, their notoriety arising less from their penchant for gambling than from their habit of forcing big losers to accept instant loans at usurious rates secured by life and limb. Many of these young men were dressed as if in uniform—in zoot-suit jackets and baggy trousers worn under long black coats, with their hair greased to a patent-leather sheen and coiffed with a duck’s ass in the back and a rooster tail in the front. Wearing gold rings embossed with flowers, they were all members of a criminal Chinese street gang called the Lotus, and the Goldstone was their unchallenged turf, as were its surrounding blocks and the neighboring schools that served as their reservoir of recruits.

At 4:23 P.M. a black Mercedes and a jalopy pulled up in front of the Goldstone’s glass doors and half a dozen men got out, led by a short fat Chinese fellow wearing a leather jacket and chrome-tipped boots sharpened to spear points. The new arrivals had barely taken seats by the doors when three Lotus gangsters reached into their girlfriends’ purses, pocketed the pistols they found there, and approached the intruders. One of the Lotus members, a 19-year-old named Tony Yeung, ordered the new arrivals to leave. Steven Lik Man Wong, the pudgy leader of the party crashers, sang a disparaging reply in Cantonese and looked away from Yeung in disgust, at which point a metal chair crashed across his shoulders. His five compatriots leaped to his defense and the group spilled out the doorway, soon joined by the rest of the Lotus. At some point during the melee—no one can remember exactly when, or even why, since Steve and his boys were outnumbered three to one—Tony Yeung pulled his 9mm automatic and started firing. A 41-year-old passerby went down screaming. One of Steve’s boys also went down. At which point Steve, who’d been chopped by Lotus cleavers, shot by Lotus bullets, and was a master of street combat, bravely grabbed Yeung’s shooting arm, wrestled him to the ground, and in his high-pitched voice screamed an order to one of his soldiers. The boy ran over to the nearby Mercedes, seized a tire iron and brought it down upon the thrashing Yeung’s forehead until blood began to spread across the pavement. Steve then calmly stood up, confident that he had successfully challenged the Lotus on their own turf. He took out his cell phone and dialed 911.

The night’s violence led the news on all Vancouver’s TV stations and the next morning the spectacular torment of the wounded passerby dominated the front page of the Vancouver Sun. In a picture below the fold, lying flat on the ground with their hands behind their backs, were five Lotus gangsters, uniformed cops stepping over them like they were Vietcong prisoners.

I clipped the Sun story and filed it in one of the half-dozen boxes of folders that lined the walls of my home office. At the time, I had been writing about underworld groups for two and a half years and was particularly intrigued by the international scope of the Chinese gangs. Asian crime squads from Vancouver to Los Angeles had told me the same story: local Chinese gang leaders like Steven Wong were often not acting on their own, but were commuting to Hong Kong for instructions. They were serving a larger purpose, the cops said, frequently dictated by their Asian-based dragon heads.

When Tony Yeung died a few days after New Year’s I anticipated that the Sun’s headline—“Gang-fight charges expected”—would be fulfilled. But the Vancouver police informed me that Steven Wong was still cruising Chinatown like a king. The manslaughter charge against him had been withdrawn. “We couldn’t prove it wasn’t self-defense,” said Constable Bill Chu, one of the frustrated officers in the Asian Crime Squad.

Steve’s technique in intimidating the Lotus while avoiding a manslaughter charge increased my interest in the young gangster, whose name had been cropping up more and more in my interviews with the police about other violent gang incidents. Although I’d never met Steve, I had been trying to arrange an interview for months. In the summer I’d spoken with Steve’s lawyer, a distinguished city councilman and former mayoralty candidate named Harry Rankin, and asked him to pass on to Steve a warning message I’d received from one of Steve’s enemies in California’s Wah Ching gang, Leo Ng, to whom I’d been introduced by the head of San Francisco’s Gang Task Force. The message was, “Oh Steve, he too crazy for San Francisco—maybe better tell him no good for him if he come here.” I thought Ng’s veiled threat would at least earn me a return phone call from Steve, but he never responded to the message, nor to any of the pages I left on his cell phone. I’d visited his Gum Wah gang’s hangout at Fraser Billiards a couple of times, but Steve was over in Hong Kong on both occasions. I went down to the car shop he was listed on court documents as managing, but the owner informed me that Steve managed Green Auto Body from a distance. I’d talked to a clutch of kids I knew in the Lotus gang and showed up where they said Steve would be on a Friday or Saturday night, but I always wound up just missing him.

One option I hadn’t tried was the most obvious, and also the most dicey: going right up to his house and knocking on his door at an hour when I was sure he would be home—that is, anytime before 2 P.M., since he was a late cruiser and a late riser. Finally I phoned the CBC-TV newsroom in Vancouver and made a proposal. Why not wire me up, I asked CBC senior producer Sue Rideout, park a van a block from Steve’s house, and film me as I conveyed the warning from the Wah Ching gang? If Wong invited me into his house to get the details—and I managed to keep him talking—we could get Steve on tape personally narrating a documentary on the ins and outs of the West Coast’s Asian gang scene.

Rideout and the other higher-ups at the newsroom held a meeting to weigh the unorthodox venture. It turned out there was a clause in CBC’s ethics manual that allowed for such a tactic—provided the interview served the public interest. Still, it was risky. Steve was freshly blood spattered, known to be hot-tempered, and not likely to react kindly if, in the midst of our chat, he discovered that I was secretly taping every word he said, and that there was a telephoto lens glued to his living room window. Of utmost importance would be how I handled myself once inside the door. Aside from reading some of my work, Sue Rideout didn’t know me at all. Maybe I was a suicidal cowboy—a concern I countered by explaining that I was 40, had been married for almost 20 years, and had a 16-year-old-daughter I wanted to see grow up.

Sue went for the proposal, putting me under the wing of David Paperny, a producer who would go on to receive an Academy Award nomination for a documentary on AIDS. In late January 1990, I went down to the CBC newsroom and Paperny took me outside for a screen test. Having been a part-time television and magazine model as a child in my hometown of New York, I found talking to the camera a piece of cake, and Paperny assessed me as a passable stand-up for the piece. He then took me into the line-up office to get my wish list of objectives for the project. I told him that, as a journalist, I wanted to expose Steve for his alleged links to Hong Kong, but in addition, as a one-time English as a Second Language teacher, I wanted to put a stop to what Steve and the other gang leaders were doing to the kids in their charge. Ambitious goals, I admitted, but they had become important to me in these last few years.


CHAPTER 3
BRITANNIA

[image: ]


Terry’s particular strengths are his warm and caring personality, and his ability to make each student feel important.

—BRITANNIA HIGH SCHOOL TEACHING REPORT, 1987






If eighth-grade dropouts could claim an alma mater, then Britannia Secondary School in East Vancouver was Steven Wong’s. In the spring semester of 1987, 10 years after Steve had abandoned his academic lessons there, I showed up as a student teacher and got a firsthand taste of his criminal underworld.

Britannia is a huge brick edifice with the cornices, pediments, and pillars typical of the high schools built in the British empire at the turn of the century. It dominates a strategic hill overlooking Vancouver’s inner city—called the school’s “catchment area” by education bureaucrats. Back in the 1980s that area included the welfare hotels around the container port down on Burrard Inlet, most of Chinatown, the heroin-addled alleys and hooker strolls of the Downtown Eastside, and a square mile of working-class houses and apartment blocks that were home to hundreds of newly arrived and very bewildered teens—among them Cambodians, Vietnamese, and ethnic Chinese who had been shaken out of Southeast Asia in the wake of the Vietnam War and Pol Pot’s Khmer Rouge genocide.

I’d only just moved to Vancouver in the fall, at the end of a 15-year stint in northern B.C., but I’d read the city papers up north and was aware that some kind of exotic gang activity was emerging in the immigrant sections of the city. I say exotic because it bore no relation to the hoodlum hijinks on the more prosperous west side of town, where delinquent teens stole cars and broke into stores, and was closer to the organized viciousness I had grown up with in faraway Brooklyn.

For instance, I knew that a couple of years ago a clean-cut young couple from Taiwan named Jimmy and Lily Ming, owners of a chic downtown restaurant, had been kidnapped coming home from a wedding. A ransom of $700,000 was demanded and when it wasn’t paid the Mings were cut into pieces and dumped beside a rural highway in garbage bags. The police questioned members of a gang called the Viet Ching—ethnic Chinese from Vietnam who hung out in Britannia’s catchment area—but the mostly white officers hit a wall of silence and made no arrests. Three months after the Ming kidnapping, Ricky Choi, the middle-aged manager of a posh Chinatown restaurant called the New Diamond, was shot to death on the street. Choi turned out to be the second in command of a Hong Kong Chinese gang called the Red Eagles, rivals to the Viet Ching and the Lotus gangs for control of the criminal pie around Britannia. There were witnesses—four of Choi’s “gang associates”—but they refused to cooperate, saying “they’d look after the situation themselves,” and again there were no arrests. Chinese community leaders, fearful of the gang cells growing in their midst, lobbied the Vancouver police department to hire more Asian officers, and the department responded by setting up a specialized Asian Crime Squad, modeled on those in Seattle, San Francisco, and New York, which had all recently experienced gruesome Chinatown gang massacres.

Like most of the residents of Westside Vancouver, my ESL professors at the University of British Columbia seemed oblivious to all of this—at least judging from their course content. While I was trained to recognize signs of student “culture shock,” no professor even hinted that schools like Britannia might be standing squarely in the middle of an active Asian street-gang scene—or that the kids I would teach faced the daily temptation of what would later become known as “recruitment.”

On the other hand, a couple of my younger fellow student teachers, who had been raised on the east side of town and had graduated from schools like Britannia just a few years earlier, seemed as savvy as cops on the beat. When one young Britannia graduate learned I would be doing my practicum at his old school, he offered up some information that he said was widely known to the kids in the neighborhood—even if our country-club campus hadn’t heard the news. The Chinese businesses near the school were paying protection to the students, he said, and those that refused the squeeze were being punished. Indeed, on January 19, the weekend after he told me this, three businesses were hit in back-to-back armed holdups, among them Vancouver’s largest Chinese movie theater, the Golden Princess, which was just a few blocks from Britannia.

And so, a week later, as I drove through Chinatown and up onto the hill Britannia crowns like a redoubt, I found myself making some mental adjustments. I was preparing to enter a subculture I had been away from for a decade and a half, but which had never really left my mind. I hadn’t encountered an Asian gangster in my life, hadn’t even heard that mysterious word “Triad” yet, but I had a good idea of what to expect. Whether the bad guys spoke Cantonese or Vietnamese or, for that matter, Italian or Yiddish, a gangster was a gangster in my view. And I knew how gangs worked—I had a mobster pedigree that went back to the turn of the century.

“What a colorful youth Al Gould must have had!” was the way Rabbi Paul Plotkin nostalgically phrased it at my father’s funeral in Fort Lauderdale’s Beth Am Synagogue. “Al, I understand, grew up in proximity to Bugsy Siegel and Meyer Lansky. Al’s father was acquainted with various associates of Mr. Arnold Rothstein. The vivid sense of life that must have given Al—one can only imagine!”

In the pews of the synagogue, 50 frail men and women, all in their 80s, shifted eyes at one another, as if to say, “What’s this young rabbi doing—trying to get us killed?” Like my dad, these old New Yorkers had all led (mostly) honest lives; yet, like my dad, quite a few of them had known a gangster or two in their day. Someone like my grandfather, Nathan “The Castilian” Gould, whose straight-razor sobriquet derived partly from the name he bore when he got off the boat that had taken him from Odessa to New York in 1910, and partly from his conniving, dark-eyed wickedness.

From the beginning, in the old country, Nathan Castaline had been tied up with the precursors of the modern Russian mob—those belle époque Jewish extortionists, murderers, and smugglers made famous in Isaac Babel’s Odessa Stories. As my father would tell me, Nat lived by the self-justifying ethos of all gangsters born into excluded minorities—Irish, Chinese, Italian, or black. The way Nat saw it, the czarist government was corrupt, oppressive, and rabidly anti-Semitic: its leaders were criminals and its police were members of gangs themselves. Blocked from making his way in the world legitimately, Nat came around from the other direction. “Al, you got a right to everything the goyim got,” my father remembered Nat telling him on Manhattan’s Hester Street. “You ask once nice and then you take.” Nat also offered my dad another bit of Lower East Side advice—one shared by ethnic gangsters everywhere, including in Chinatown, a block west of where they lived: “Keep it in the community. The Yiddishkeit are more afraid of the Cossacks than they are of us.”

The criminal Jews who lived by these sayings were just getting established in North America when The Castilian arrived. Once ensconced among them, Nat said goodbye to my grandmother, leaving her to a lifetime of sweatshop toil raising the three kids he’d abandoned. His ultimate boss in the Jewish crime hierarchy was Arnold Rothstein, credited with inventing the modern system of organized crime—a corporate structure that embraced legitimate and illegitimate enterprises, that employed accountants as well as assassins, and that offered high-profile donations to charities and secret payoffs to politicians. When Prohibition became law in 1920, Rothstein used his influence to considerably boost Sam Bronfman’s liquid exports from Canada, as well as my grandfather’s career in cross-border transport. After Rothstein was murdered in 1928, Nat’s younger accomplices went on to become legends. The accounting genius Meyer Lansky set up the corporate alliance between the Sicilian and Jewish mobs in the ’30s. In the ’40s the glamorous Ben “Bugsy” Siegel built Las Vegas’s famed Flamingo Hotel—the casino that got the whole town rolling—murdering up to 12 men on the way to achieving his dream.

My grandfather never made a big name for himself. A wheel man, a hapless enforcer, and probably an informant, he was in and out of jails and ambulances for 40 years, until he took a five-story fall from a rooftop—possibly thrown by untervelt menshen, no one knows.

I do know that we were the last ones he turned to for help. Out of jail in 1953, he was desperate for refuge from old enemies and for a place to rest his cancer-racked body. He tried approaching my grandmother Rose on her way home from work, but she beat him with her purse and pushed him down into the gutter. Anticipating that he would attempt to persuade my father to take him in, Rose raced to our house ahead of Nat. I was four, playing with a mechanical roller coaster on the living room floor when he showed up. At the door, in front of my weeping dad, Rose spit in Nat’s face and cursed him in Yiddish—opened up with a lifetime of wailing history—the lament of most gangster wives (repeated for us once a week until her death at 101): “You bastard, may a beet grow in your belly! You caused us so much pain in our lives! What you left us to live on you could hold between two fingers! Go back to your crazy dog friends, rot with them in filth! I hope they kill you slow! You should shrivel with a dark disease!”

My mother intervened, asking Nat to leave until everyone had calmed down. When Nat pleaded men were after him, my grandmother bellowed to my father, “If you let him in, you throw me out!! Let him call the police!!” But the police (the Cossacks) were never an option. Two weeks later my grandfather was dead on the sidewalk.

Nat’s world left a Jovian impression on my father, and on me. Al was deeply ashamed of his own days on Hester Street, where he ran for a time with Lansky’s and Siegel’s young enforcers. He only told me about them and the cause of his associations—The Castilian—just before I moved out, and then only in the most deflating terms.

“What’s to tell? They shot him in the groin, the belly, he was in the Tombs half the time,” he said, referring to my grandfather’s wounds and to his incarceration in the Detention Complex in Chinatown. “When he got out he took me to the bordel—a whorehouse—introduced me to the worst gonifs in the city. What the hell did I know.”

“Yeah, but Lansky and Siegel—they’re like Hollywood heroes!” I marveled.

“Terry, heroes they weren’t, I got away from them as soon as I could. Some kid working for Ben Siegel once handed me a gun. I was 16! ‘You stand here and wait for us.’ They were maniacs, Terry. Most of them were dreck.”

But they were dreck we never wholly escaped. The year my grandfather hit the ground we moved to an ostensibly middle-class section of Brooklyn that stood at the volatile convergence of three neighborhoods: Brownsville, Bedford-Stuyvesant, and East New York. The corner I lived on, Carroll Street and Rochester Avenue, overlooked Lincoln Terrace Park, a no-man’s-land between the black, Puerto Rican, and Italian gangs that dominated their three respective turfs. At least once a year they met in the cement park and carved each other up with broken beer bottles below our window—I can still hear the bloodcurdling screams of boys as they were tortured. Their violence washed over all of us. When I was eight I was beat up and robbed crossing through the park to P.S. 189. My uncle was shot in the stomach and lungs when I was nine. My mom’s best friend was raped. My father was robbed with a switchblade held to his neck, then beat up.

That was the low end of gangsterism—kids working their way up. On the high end we had the more sinister but publicly polite Italian Mafia, big fat guys or sallow skinny ones who visited the neighborhood once a month. They ran their operations out of two businesses that adjoined our apartment house. Hymie’s, where I bought my daily dose of ice cream, was a Jewish-owned candy store whose south wall was lined by wooden phone booths and a bookie board to record the standings for the chain-smoking crowd of men in fedoras. Next door, where I had to go to buy my father’s after-hours packs of Camels, stood a nameless dark saloon always filled with red-lipsticked black women who lounged at the bar in tight shiny dresses, looking totally bored.

When the young hoods who watched the streets outside of both joints began taunting me for fun, I decided it was best to make friends with their bosses inside. I was in the heyday of my modeling career then, and so I hit upon the idea of regaling the Jewish and Italian operators with tales of the 20-year-old shiksas I posed with for the New York Times. At the age of 10 I was discovering a couple of things about gangsters, and myself, that would allow me to communicate with bad guys for my whole life. The first of these was that they liked to laugh, but only at the expense of others. Trained to project what others wanted, I knew how to make them laugh. Dressing-room space was at a premium between shoots, and the women I modeled with changed clothes in front of me while I did my homework.

“And they were talking,” I’d say. “About boyfriends.”

“Ha! Ha! I’m dyin’! These women got no shame! They fucking stand there naked in front of a 10-year-old talkin’ dirty!”

“Yeah, one said her boyfriend put her feet on the wall!” I recollected, not quite knowing what she had meant by that.

“Gevalt!” a Jewish rounder exclaimed in dire envy. “This kid’s the luckiest in the fucking world!”

The second discovery I made was that I had the kind of clean-cut Jimmy Olsen face these mobsters trusted, and more—felt affection for—something my father, then kicking a Dexedrine habit, was too indisposed to offer me at that time in his life.

Since they dressed and looked like my dad, there was probably something more going on in the back of my mind, but this dalliance was a very temporary relationship of convenience. When one wise guy was nearly kicked to death outside the candy store, and I leaned out my bedroom window and saw him staining the concrete, I instantly outgrew the magic dragons at Hymie’s. But not its legacy of unbounded deviousness.

I came to think it ordinary that every corner of life was rife with bribes, tribute, and amateur extortionists. In order to ensure mail delivery, we gave the postman an envelope every Christmas. To my teachers who didn’t report the weeks of school I missed because of my modeling, we gave a bottle of Sam Bronfman’s best (plus an envelope) at Chanukah. On cold days the steam heat in our building would conk out unless the super got his. Once, the apartment of an eccentric widow who lived downstairs from us was broken into. The thieves turned the place upside down looking for her cash box. She called the police, who took down all the details, including where she hid her cash box. She should have offered them more than tea and biscuits, because the next time she was broken into the only item she found missing was her cash box.

When I was 17 my father put some money together from his sandwich-maker’s job and we moved to Brighton Beach, just as the newest wave of Russian-Jewish gangsters began moving in, and in such numbers that it later became known as Little Odessa. Soon the shop owners had new banks to borrow from to cover new debts incurred in places just like Hymie’s. Mobsters like Evsei Agron and Marat Balagula eventually arrived and founded a criminal network that would stretch from Moscow to Toronto to Vancouver’s own misnamed British Properties—extorting, defrauding, and killing—part of the same continuum, immigrant gangsters asking once and then taking.

The ubiquitous corruption infected all of us. The gangster dreck were of good use to respectable families like ours when we needed them. When I got my girlfriend pregnant in 1966, and procuring an abortion meant making a pact with the devil, my dad knew the devil to phone. When I went shopping for my first car, and I only had $600 scholarship money to spend, my dad told me, “Lemme call Johnny.” Two days later I was driving a Rambler Classic with only 10,000 miles on the odometer. When I crashed it and needed a cheap radiator, I called Johnny myself. And when I got drunk at 18 and put my fist through the display window of Bergdorf Goodman on Fifth Avenue, my dad made another call. Things got fixed at the police station.

Full disclosure: I also learned how to chisel like a petty gangster. To put myself through Brooklyn College I drove a cab. My father’s best friend also drove a cab. After my first couple of weekends on the job, my dad’s friend sat me down in our living room. “Do you steal?” he asked.

“No,” I said.

“You gotta steal, Terry.”

“Suppose I get caught?”

He shrugged. “You’re not talking about robbing. Take it off the meter. Charge ’em ten bucks from LaGuardia. Saves the passenger two. You’ll never get one who says no.”

He was right. I stole a hundred times in two years—grand larceny—and no one ever said no.

I met my wife, Leslie, driving cab. She was actually the only female New York cabdriver at the time—and may have been the first. An idealistic flower child and artist, she’d attended Woodstock, but she stole too, like me, to help put herself through Brooklyn College. And like me, she was encouraged by example. Her father fixed TV sets, and sometimes fixed them when they didn’t need fixing. Her father’s best friend was a mafioso who hung around the nightclubs along Rockaway Boulevard, later featured in the film Goodfellas. WASP society seemed so corrupt—why should the military-industrial complex get it all? After all, Leslie and I thought, they wanted to send me to Vietnam and kill me as soon as I got out of school. For what? To make them richer? To hell with them. We had a right to everything they had.

In the weeks before Christmas 1970, I took a job as a temp sorting the heavy volume of packages at the downtown Brooklyn Post Office. My supervisor had X-ray eyes. His corner of the basement quickly became known as “the store,” where his friends could buy presents at a markdown. He also ran a bookmaking operation. We students—those who saw nothing wrong with it—spent our days cruising the immense building taking bets on basketball, hockey, horses, dogs. The day before Christmas, my last day of work, the police showed up in trench coats and took my supervisor for a walk. I spent Christmas week barely able to breathe, waiting for a knock on the door. I called Johnny, and he said to forget about it, they weren’t interested in Brooklyn College kids. “Just get rid of all your swag,” he cracked. And if I had any problems I should drop by—he knew someone. I should drop by anyway, he hadn’t heard from me since the radiator, and here I was asking for advice again. “That’s not nice, Terry.”

The laughing innuendo in his voice was so clear it frightened me as much as the police. It was like an idiot face had just popped out of a jack-in-the-box in front of me: Surprise! Have you heard the news? There’s good and there’s bad!

That summer Leslie and I drove out west—the first time for both of us. We camped and backpacked in national parks for three months. In Jasper we stayed put by the Snake River for a week, reading Thoreau, Emerson, and Alan Watts. We asked the same question at the same time: “What are we doing?” Like my dad on Hester Street, I realized we had to get away as soon as we were able. Completely away.

Richard Nixon, that paradigm of honesty, instituted the draft lottery that fall, based on birth dates. My number—212—was well above the announced call-up maximum of 170. We went to Canada anyway; perhaps I was one of the few men of draft age who emigrated at that time purely because he wanted to, rather than because he had to. My wife and I crossed the border at Osoyoos, B.C.: we had a dream of an honest paradise that would be out of reach of a corruption so profound that it left no one untouched. We drove and drove—or ran and ran—until we felt safe from Brooklyn. For $7,000 we bought 160 acres of wilderness 700 miles north of the border. We built a big log home in the middle of a green field on a forested mountain slope that overlooked a river valley quilted with farm fields and towered over by snowy peaks. Honest Canada was so honestly good to us that after René Lévesque was elected premier of a separatist Quebec we entered the Smithers courthouse and became dual citizens. Canada just seemed like a country worth fighting to keep together. Even in town no one locked their doors, and you never heard of break-ins.

Not that we had a hell of a lot to steal. In 1983 I got a letter from the Canadian Pension Plan informing me that if I continued earning the same amount as I had over the last 12 years, I’d do very well in retirement on $30 a month. The next year the well went dry. We needed a new roof. The pack rats and bats found a way into the attic and we couldn’t get rid of them. When our daughter went away to the Royal Winnipeg Ballet for the summer of 1985, and was assessed as having talent that should be cultivated, Leslie and I again had the same thought at the same time.

Maybe it was time to go back into the world and put some of what we had learned to work (and get paid for it). I had just published a book of short stories and I had no thought then of becoming a journalist. Rather, I had an idea I’d like to teach kids, perhaps about the lesson I’d learned at 21—that there was good and there was bad—the moral inherent in a lot of literature. Jobs for English teachers were scarce, but having English as a Second Language on your résumé was a ticket. And so at 37, I went back to school—in Vancouver, Odessa’s sister city—where the karmic merry-go-round brought me right back to where I’d started from. Only this time I swore I’d never steal again.

I parked my car opposite Britannia’s back entrance on Cotton Drive, where the street bordered a quiet little park fittingly called Grandview, then held my breath as I descended a stairway to the wide asphalt school yard. Right across Burrard Inlet were the snowy North Shore Mountains, their shoulders carpeted in green forest and crowned by those majestic outcrops that look so much like the stone lions in front of the 42nd Street Library. Off to the left of the school was Vancouver’s skyline, its clean glass office towers silhouetted against a clear winter sky, and beyond that the gleaming Tantalus Mountains lining Howe Sound. You could see the blue water where the inlet made its entry into Georgia Strait and feel the endless Pacific Ocean beyond. I’d always believed that a city you could see out of made people less desperate. It didn’t seem logical that bad things were happening here. At any rate, there were no obvious gangster signs in the school yard, like thugs in black leather jackets dealing little packages.

My ESL adviser, Jackie Freer, had told me her beginner classes were held in two shack-roof trailers outside the main building. These “temporaries” had been installed when the Asian immigrant wave had begun rolling in during the late ’70s, although the trailers had since grown permanent foundations when the wave hadn’t rolled out. Walking into the school to ask for directions, I bumped into a uniformed policeman standing by a stairway, the butt of his big revolver prominent as a baseball bat. I asked if there was any trouble, and he said he was the school’s liaison officer—it was just his job to hang around. That was my first clue that something was wrong at Britannia. Even where I’d gone to high school we didn’t have uniformed cops in the halls, at least not cops who were stationed there for more than a day or two after 911 calls.

The policeman pointed me to an exit, and I wound up at the front entrance of the school, beneath a big sign that warned against trespassing. Just this side of a hurricane fence that walled the school from the city were the two temporaries, their walls painted tan, with cheery orange doors. When I walked into Jackie Freer’s class, 30 Asian teens with coal-black hair turned around as one and looked at me. They ranged in age from 13 to 18, and not one of them smiled. Indeed, they turned right back to the front of the room, as if more frightened by the interruption than entertained.

Jackie introduced me and then returned to her lesson. She was surrounded by objects that served as learning hooks: a telephone book, enlarged bus transfers, and a poster showing the correct way to hold a pencil.

“You have to teach them how to hold a pencil?” I asked her after class.

“You really can’t take a lot for granted,” she replied, meaning some of her students had spent ages three to six in a war zone, six to eight wandering the countryside, and eight to 13 behind barbed wire in a refugee camp. “You give them a pencil, and they use it like a chisel.”

She gave me a resource book and we spent a couple of hours going over ways to bring the classroom to life. As I was leaving, I asked about the policeman in the hall. Jackie said he was there because they’d recently had some problems with “outsiders” coming into the school. As a student teacher I should report any suspicious activity, but I should leave the handling of what I saw to the staff.

It was dark when I got back to my car, Friday night, and I was tense. My wife was still up north trying to rent the property, and the last thing I felt like doing was heading back to my dreary kitchenette. So I walked up to Commercial Drive, which some of my fellow students at UBC had told me had the best coffee shops and restaurants in the city. It was a cosmopolitan strip, making it evident that in the not-too-distant past the neighborhood had been a melting pot for immigrant Italians, Portuguese, and Greeks, and that Latin Americans as well as Asians were now in the melting pot with them. I toured north towards the docks and found the neighborhood rapidly deteriorating, until by the bottom of the hill at Hastings, the Drive was merely seedy and dirty, peopled with staggering drunks and hookers and choked with snarling traffic. I turned around and walked back until I got almost to Broadway, where I stepped into a cheap Asian restaurant.

I can sit and read over a meal till closing time, and it was getting close to that hour when the street outside was torn in two by sirens. The whole of Commercial Drive seemed to be headed on foot up to Broadway and I joined the human stream. Half a block west of the corner was the glaringly illuminated Golden Princess movie theater, and something was terribly wrong. Perhaps a hundred Chinese people were directly in front of it, blocking the street, some women were crying, and there were more police cars with swirling bubble-gum lights than I’d seen since I’d left Brooklyn.

It was the night of January 23, 1987—and I was witness to a watershed event in the life of Vancouver, at least in terms of the public’s awareness of Asian gangs. A Vietnamese ethnic Chinese by the name of William Yeung, a member of the Viet Ching gang, had walked into the Golden Princess, pulled a five-shot Rossi revolver from his black trench coat, and in front of the entire theater shot a Lotus gang member named Tony Hong in the eye. By Monday morning the words “Asian gangs” would be on everyone’s lips, and would stay there for three years, the Golden Princess hit marking the beginning of a barbarian struggle between Vancouver’s five big gangs.


CHAPTER 4
GANG WARS
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We provide for these guys.

—STEVEN WONG






The gunsmoke from the Golden Princess hung in the streets around Britannia for the entire month of my practicum. Every week there were clashes between groups whose alliances and borders were as convoluted and shifting as those in Europe during the Thirty Years War. The struggle was so chaotic it resembled disorganized crime rather than organized crime, and the police were worried it might end in a massacre. Four years ago, just across the border in Seattle, a Chinese gang had executed 13 men in the Wah Mee gambling club, the worst such incident in American history; a few months before that, three were shot dead and eight wounded in New York’s Golden Star bar; in 1977, Chinese gunfire killed five and severely wounded 11 in San Francisco’s Golden Dragon Restaurant. Each of these Chinatown bloodbaths had been preceded by feudal struggles between young princes out to extend their reach over a few blocks, using the slaughterous tactics of 17th-century warlords.

The Asian Crime Squad saw ominous signs that Vancouver could be building to the same climax. The three most established Asian street gangs—the Lotus, the Red Eagles, and the Viet Ching—were all becoming destabilized, having suffered decapitating arrests and assassinations, leaving their leadership to younger, more volatile, and less businesslike little brothers. At the same time, the era of flux was opening the field to aggressive competition. A multiethnic gang called Los Diablos was emerging in the southeast corner of the city, founded under the guidance of a young Iranian martial arts master named Babbak “Bob” Moieni, who strangely held membership in both the Chinese Lotus and the everything-but-Chinese Los Diablos. The Lotus’s strategic move in inducting Moieni into their exclusive club was aimed at outflanking a venerable Red Eagles gangster who had recently formed the Gum Wah, or “Golden Chinese.” In that winter of discontent Steven Wong, who held a street doctorate in seduction, was actively recruiting the best prospects right out from under all the other Chinese gangs. The Asian squad were beginning to notice Steve coming up the middle, and, given his success at raising troops, he was the one they least wanted to cause them migraines as he went to war with the rest of the city.

The first time I heard Steven Wong’s name was on February 13, 1987.I remember because the next day was Valentine’s Day and I was giving four high-beginner students a lesson in the school yard on how to make time with a white girl. They were ethnic Chinese from Cambodia and Vietnam, and by every definition of the word they were outsiders, even at Britannia. They had bad teeth, bad vision, bad nerves, and wore oversize sweatshirts and baggy pants, not because they were emulating the gang fashion in L.A., but because their clothes were from the Salvation Army—the real origin of American-style gang wear. Every day after lunch they would head to a remote corner at the sunny end of the playground to have a smoke, squatting like paddy farmers with their elbows on their knees. Since our goal at Britannia was to get the high beginners to speak English outside the classroom, and two of the boys were in my classes, I got in the habit of following them across the yard to their private corner, sharing my Camels and my student teacher good cheer.

After I’d learned to squat like a pro I began to encourage small talk about their lives, taking the path of least resistance with one of my students, a teen who spoke the best English of the crew and who seemed the most on the ball. His buddies affectionately called him San Yeung T’ou, or “Goathead,” probably because he was blessed with a receding forehead, although I used the nickname too because of his stubbornness and capricious sense of humor. He was from around Kontum, where my wife’s brother had been a radio repairman during the Vietnam War, and so I felt a connection to the history that had landed him in Vancouver. When Goathead was three the Vietnamese Communists had won their two-decade war against the U.S. and then promptly launched a war against the Chinese businessmen who had backed the Americans, of which San’s father was one. The whole family was moved out of their home to a re-education camp, which San’s father did not survive. In 1981 San, his mother, her brother, and his children joined the hundreds of thousands of others who fled Vietnam by boat, winding up penned in a refugee camp in Malaysia where they waited years until they were finally accepted by Canada. San’s mother didn’t come over with the kids, however, and the boy’s explanation was that she was too sick to travel. Was she still alive? I asked him. Was she coming to join him in Canada? He didn’t know, and his offhand dismissal of the subject showed me it was just one more trauma moving through his system.

All four of the boys—or “my guys,” as I would ever after refer to them—lived in noisy Hastings-area apartments, with a relative if they were lucky; or, if they weren’t lucky, with a friend of a relative. The kids’ guardians worked long hours, and so the dwellings were empty when they left for school and empty when they returned, making them literally in need of someone to wipe their noses. That February they each endured at least one seven-day cold and didn’t hesitate to use their sweatshirt sleeves as hankies, causing the white girls they ogled to regard them with unfeigned disgust. With cut-out hearts pasted all over the school, I decided this was definitely “a teachable moment.” I assigned Goathead the part of a disinterested girl, and one of his little buddies the role of an interested guy. They played the game something like this:

“I want date with you. You want date with me?”

“I no want date with you. Teacher say you wipe nose on shirt, shit in yard, I no want date with you.”

“Oh, you have nice titties. I want to kiss titties. Tsk-tsk-tsk.”

“First you pay me money. Then I give you fucky-fucky. No before. Ha ha ha!”

At that, my guys shoved each other and hee-hawed and broke into Khmer and Vietnamese and Chinese for especially graphic cursing. I stopped the vaudeville vulgarity and insisted that now was the time for them to get serious and maybe they would get lucky tomorrow. It was their assignment: they had to come up with fascinating opening lines, learn how to be polite and persuasive. God knows, they’d all had very interesting lives.

“Okay,” I told one of the Chinese-Cambodian kids. “I’m Marla.” I batted my eyes and put my hand behind my head. “Oh hello,” I breathed. “Will you be my Valentine?”

“Marla, yes, be Valentine.”

I waited.

“Yeah, and?” I asked.

“Say where you come,” advised Goathead, the teacher’s pet.

“I come Cambodia. Small city. Very nice place. By lake.”

“Oh how interesting,” I said. “Which lake?”

“Big, big lake. Many, many fish. We catch many fish there.”

“You fisherman there?” Goathead asked.

“No. I work on farm. Fish after.”

“When you go from there?” Goathead pursued the lesson.

“Long time now. We go first Thailand. Mother, sister step on bomb. Then father no come with us. Have stay with them. Then I come here—”

That was about as far as we got in that disturbing Level 2 session on Valentine’s Day greetings. For just then a metallic gold Trans Am came rumbling towards us on the street above, with its 400 horses vibrating the air so concussively I could feel it in my sternum. My guys stood up. I stood up. The Trans Am stopped, idling with the force of a steel mill. An older teen in the passenger seat gazed down at us, wraparound sunglasses across his eyes, one arm out the window, a cigarette loosely pinched in his gold-ringed fingers. I could see a gum-chewing Asian girl of about 16 in the rear window. Goathead brushed past me, hopped the fence, and ran over to the car. “Who’s that?” I asked the other kids.

“Friend.”

“They look like fucking gangsters,” I said. “Whaddaya mean friend?”

Goathead looked back at us, whistled through his upper teeth and fanned air towards the ground with his palm, Asian style. The other boys instantly snapped themselves over the fence. The girl in the back and a twin friend—both in high boots and microminis—got out and crammed into the front seat. My guys crammed in the back.

I took note of the license plate, but I hesitated to call the liaison officer. Where I came from—Brooklyn and up north—the ruling ethic was that you might let air out of someone’s tires or pour sugar in their gas tank, you might even shoot them for good cause, but you never turned them in.

“Hey!” I called, deciding to handle it on my own.

I jumped the fence and ran over to the car. “Are they coming back soon?” I asked the driver, trying to be as friendly a white Joe as possible while still making my identification of him official. I smiled ear to ear and then looked at my watch. “We only got fifteen minutes left till the bell.”

The driver looked at me through mummy-slit eyes. The girls’ perfume was thick as gas in the car.

“I see you don’t need my help,” I told my guys.

“You want kiss pretty titties?” cackled Goathead, slapping the back of the front seat. “Ha ha ha! Oh Mr. Good, no look sad, I just make joke.”

The driver twisted slowly around at Goathead, and it was then I noticed the lotus-embossed ring on his left hand. Goathead said something in Chinese, then told me, “I say, ‘No worry, very good teacher.’”

“They come back few minutes,” the driver shrugged.

Walking back to the school I tried to come up with a plan to deal with this. These days, as in most big cities, the ESL Department of the Vancouver School Board has a special component of its course content dealing with gangs like the Lotus. The subject is handled head-on, like drinking and driving, with graphic instructional videos and frequent lecturers from the Attorney General’s Department. But back then, ad hoc reactions by the administration were the norm: gang-affiliated troublemakers were given a couple of chances, then transferred to another school, then bounced from the system if they persisted in breaking the rules. Aware of these responses, I put myself in the shoes of my guys. On the one hand I knew I would be drawn to gang kids because they gave me what I urgently needed—girls, money, kinship, entertainment—and expelling me from school would drive me right into their criminal arms. On the other hand, as a former troubled high school kid myself, I remembered the teachers who could have ruined my life by reporting me to the administration but didn’t.* And so I decided to give my guys some slack, find out what they were up to, and offer the kind of big brother–type companionship in the school yard I’d once benefited from. When I think about it now—and I think about it—I realize that when it came to Asian gangs, I didn’t know what I was doing. But then, neither did the city.

My guys came back for the last 15 minutes of the day. Back in our favorite corner at three, Goathead told me where he’d been, and that it involved nothing illegal. Someone named Ricky Tang was about to get out of jail and then be deported to Hong Kong. But before he left the Lower Mainland Regional Correctional Center, a rival gang leader named Steven Wong was going to have him ritually harmed. The deed was to be done with “Hong Kong choppers” (that is, meat cleavers) and weird chains with points on them. One of my Cambodian guys had been paid a few bucks to phone this warning message to Ricky via a Khmer-speaking inmate—it being assumed by the Lotus that none of the eavesdropping prison guards spoke the language.

Although the details were not conveyed very smoothly at the time, I now know the origin of the Ricky Tang–Steven Wong affair. It dated back four years, and was over recruitment. In November 1983, Ricky Tang, then an 18-year-old Britannia student in charge of recruitment at the school for the Lotus gang, had spotted Steve, then an up-and-coming Red Eagles officer, breaking up a one-sided fight between two Eagles and an immigrant youngster in Grandview Park. To an outsider it would have looked as if Steve were saving the skin of the kid, a 13-year-old who was being badly pummeled. But Tang instantly recognized what Steve was up to. Steve’s standard technique was to have a couple of his boys target a newly arrived Asian immigrant, let them torment and terrorize the boy over the course of a week, then one day drive up in a fancy Beemer and put a stop to the scene with a wave of his hand. Then he’d invite the kid into his car and take him to Fraser Billiards, his hangout, introduce him to compliant gang girls and gang members, all dripping with the accoutrements of wealth and privilege accrued by members of the clan. The victims almost always fell for the good cop–bad cop routine, seeing Steve as their savior. The next step for Steve was to richly reward the kid for some easy crime—maybe picking up an extortion check or making a dope delivery. After the kid experienced a month of blow jobs, coke, and shared lucky money, getting him to drop out of school and assigning him to regular work was no problem.

And so, when Steve drove away with the grateful youngster, Tang and two other Lotus jumped in their own car and followed. It was not the sneaky technique but the public violation of a treaty that pissed the Lotus off—it seemed directly designed to make the Lotus suffer a public loss of face, an all-important commodity in the highly competitive recruitment racket. The Eagles and the Lotus had just come to an understanding regarding recruitment capitals on the east side of town: Britannia in the north belonged to the Lotus; John Oliver Secondary in the south belonged to the Eagles. To Ricky, Steve’s blatant violation of that treaty could not go unanswered.

Steve dropped his young charge at Fraser Billiards, then drove west with a couple of Eagles to Churchill Secondary—crucial territory to both gangs because it was a foothold on the west side of town that held a burgeoning population of wealthy Hong Kong immigrant kids ripe for extortion. When Steve and his companions strolled into the suburban-looking yard, Ricky pulled a chopper from his glove compartment and the other two Lotus pulled out wooden fish clubs. As if they were conversant with the military tactics of Sun-Tzu or the hunting pattern of wolves, they separated and came running at Steve from three directions. Steve’s left and right flanks dissolved, but brave Steve stood his ground. By the time the Lotus were through with the then-skinny hood, he was tenderized and in need of 25 stitches in the hospital.

Four years later Steve’s desire to take vengeance on Ricky before he was deported seemed understandable, but Ricky, who’d been convicted of assaulting Steve and had spent the ensuing years in jail, had more of a right to bear a grudge. “I got Steve to testify in that case,” the Asian Crime Squad’s Bill Chu would later tell me, referring to a concession that was almost never granted to the squad by members of the Chinese underworld. “By the end of the trial, I think the jury and the judge hated Steve more than the accused, because he was just a bragging asshole. Total arrogant son of a bitch. With Steve everything is built on ego.”

That Steve was still alive and still a working gangster so many years after grandly testifying said something either about his genius for dominating the street or for the flabbiness of the gang world’s enforcement of the code of silence. Probably both. The fact was, my being in on the discussion with Goathead and crew introduced me to a modus operandi of the gangs that police around the world make good use of when handling informants. Under the right circumstances, the archly secretive world of Asian gangs collapses. Gang members may not talk about themselves, but they gossip about the enemies they want to sewer. Chinatown, the restaurants, the drugs, and the schools all form golden squares of criminal opportunity that the gangs battle over. And the more they eliminate their enemies through backbiting and informing, the fewer foes they have to fight.

I mark the moment that Goathead told me the rumor about Steve’s planned vengeance as my first experience of a journalistic thrill—the feeling of being on the inside of “a story,” one that most people, unless they are cops handling informants, hear about only from the outside. And I have to admit that in a part of my mind I reassessed Goathead as a bankable asset, even as I lobbied discreetly about the dangers the gold-ringed hoodlums posed to him.

For the remainder of my practicum my guys showed no overt signs they were going bad. They weren’t conscienceless kids; they weren’t even tough guys who challenged school authority. They remained easygoing and deferential, even sweet—except they had this “affiliation” that every so often sucked them out of school for an afternoon.

February 28, the Saturday night after I finished my practicum, the Viet Ching and the Red Eagles shot it out at the Akasaka nightclub on trendy downtown Richards Street. On Sunday the TV stations and papers were full of speculation about which gangs were behind this latest act of mayhem in a crowd of innocent civilians. When I went back to Britannia to pick up Jackie Freer’s teaching report at lunchtime on Monday, there was Goathead in our corner, eager to tell me who the shooters were (Hy Hang and Khai Truong of the Viet Ching had started it, he said) and who took bullets (a fellow by the name of King Nang “Kim” Tam, Steve’s right-hand juvenile).

Over the next six months, as I gradually began to moonlight writing magazine articles, Goathead and another of my guys began spending weekends in the Lotus’s safe house three blocks from the school. They saw less of their relatives, almost certainly got up to things they wouldn’t want me to know about, and finally donned the Lotus rings. (The other two never made that formal jump, but kept up a gofer affiliation with the Britannia pair and their flower-ringed friends.) In the fall I began a teaching job across Burrard Inlet, theoretically a world away in the posh neighborhood of West Vancouver’s British Properties. I say theoretically because my new school, Sentinel Secondary, had an ESL program filled with millionaire Hong Kong students, and within a week I discovered that when they took their Beemers downtown they were almost always hit up by the gangs.

Then, two weeks into my tenure, Bob Moieni, the Iranian Lotus member who ran the Los Diablos gang that fought Steve, was hog-tied in his home and executed with a shot in the forehead.

In the midst of the mayhem, Bill Chu, a movie star-handsome Chinese-Canadian who was the only Asian on the Asian Crime Squad, explained the big picture of Vancouver’s gang scene to me. Despite their headline-making violence, Asian street gangs bore only superficial resemblance to the color gangs then blasting away at each other down in Los Angeles. The Crips and the Bloods might terrorize East L.A. and deal street-level drugs, but their influence began and ended in their neighborhoods. The Asians, on the other hand, were “highly mobile” and sometimes “well connected in North America and overseas through their top leaders.” In a way, they were the lowest tier of a larger eminence, a junior form of organized crime, with a clearly defined hierarchy, headed by a dai lo, or “Big Brother,” and with wartime alliances, ententes, and secret treaties that divided the city’s rackets of gambling, loan-sharking, extortion, prostitution, recruitment, and, of course, drugs, since they were always available for hire by overseas interests to run heroin. Or worse. It was the Asian Crime Squad’s suspicion that the murder of Jim and Lily Ming back in 1985 involved more than the $700,000 ransom their abductors demanded. Ping Ching Ming, the father of Jimmy Ming, had been an opponent of the Triad-seamed Taiwan government. The year before the killings, another opponent of the government, a California journalist named Henry Liu, had been shot dead by assassins dispatched from Taiwan by the United Bamboo syndicate. Rumors in the Asian underworld were prevalent that the United Bamboo had hired the Viet Ching to do the deed in Vancouver, and the VC members had merely tried to reap an extra windfall on the revenge-inspired murders.

By 1987 the Viet Ching were actually in the process of being overwhelmed by arrests, defections and violent retaliation for the Golden Princess—part of a long-running eclipse in power that explained why my guys, natural Viet Ching material, had been scooped up by the Lotus and not the VC. Targeted by the Asian squad and a specially appointed gang prosecutor, Jim McBride, who put together B.C.’s first anti-gang strike force, the VC’s decline spurred the other gangs to move in on their territory and take out strays, either in battle or by feeding the police bits of information, which led to more arrests. The gang had a brilliant young lawyer on their side named Ian Donaldson, a member of one of Vancouver’s most respected law firms, Oliver & Co., but despite Donaldson’s best efforts, the VC’s dai lo Allan (“Little White Dragon”) Keung Law went down on an extortion charge, followed by William Yeung for the Golden Princess. By the time of Moieni’s murder, the VC were just a rump force fighting to hold on to their few remaining extortion and pai gow rackets.

Goathead refused to speak to me about his own gang, but Martin Turner, Chu’s British colleague on the Asian squad, filled me in on the Lotus’s colorful history as well as its “domestic and foreign interplay.” Founded in 1976, the Lotus were near the top of the heap for many years, although by 1987 they too were becoming more diffuse. The gang was headed by two Chinese-Canadian toughs named Park Lo and Albert Kong. Park was a short, violent muscleman who had recently begun to use “his own products” (that is, drugs) and now hung around grungy Eastside pool halls, but he was one of the pioneers of the modern Chinese-gang scene, getting his criminal start in the late 1960s and early 1970s in what was euphemistically called the Vancouver Soccer Club, a Chinatown sports association that grew into the Jung Ching gang. Back in those days Park was a graceful persuader with a subtle mind, and in 1978 he’d helped to engineer a merger between the Jung Ching and the emerging Lotus and took control of both, and then of the Asian entertainment business in Vancouver. At the time I did my teaching practicum at Britannia, many of the movies, videos, and live acts coming into town from Hong Kong were still being booked through agents of the Lotus.

In this capacity the reach of the Lotus stretched down through Seattle to San Francisco, where they were allied with the Wah Ching gang, headed by a glamorous young Chinese-American by the name of Vincent Jew, who was himself allied with the bosses from various Triads in Hong Kong and Toronto, as well as tongs across the U.S. It was an alliance confirmed by the Hong Kong police in January 1983 when they monitored and then busted a meeting of dragon heads at the Miramar Hotel in Kowloon, Hong Kong. Law enforcement got a glimpse at how organized organized crime could be. Along with the cosmopolitan Vincent Jew, the gathering included Hong Kong’s Lau Wing-kui who, 15 years before, had founded Toronto’s powerful Kung Lok Triad and now headed security at gambling king Stanley Ho’s Lisboa casino in Macau, and who was also part owner of Ho’s floating Jumbo restaurant in Aberdeen Harbor (see source notes). Also in attendance were Danny Mo, the Kung Lok’s current dragon head in Toronto, and several wealthy Chinese businessmen from Southern California connected by the police to organized crime. The object of the meeting was to formalize cooperation between the Hong Kong Triads, the North American tongs, and the emerging Chinese gangs, ostensibly with Vincent Jew negotiating on behalf of the West Coast of North America, Danny Mo for the East, and Lau Wing-kui for Hong Kong. It was, of course, the height of arrogance for each of these mobsters to assume they could speak for anybody but their own organizations, for in their respective hometowns they each faced a patchwork quilt of competition.

One of the arch-rivals to the Wah Ching-affiliated Lotus—deadly enemies to the Lotus for most of its existence—was the 100-member Hong Kong-Chinese gang called the Red Eagles, or Hung Ying. The Red Eagles were affiliated with Hong Kong’s 14K Triad, which many Triad hands considered to be the overseer of Toronto’s Kung Lok Triad. The Eagles’ specialties were heroin, which made them rich, and recruitment, which made them potentially the biggest street threat to all the other gangs. They were headed by a computer-store owner named Wayne Shi (“Chicken Wings”) Mah. A few years before, the Canadian Chiefs of Police had identified the Eagles as the most dominant gang in Vancouver, but by 1987 Mah was having problems with his own membership—or rather, with one member, Steven Wong, who at the time, his head swollen with becoming a fully initiated 14K member in Hong Kong, was forming the Gum Wah out of ex-Red Eagles and new recruits. His temerity inside and outside the gang world was soon to become legendary. In July 1988 Wong went so far as to appeal a decision by the police to refuse him a permit for a handgun, opening himself up to a catalog of testimony attesting to why the police were aghast that he even had the balls to make such a request. The Asian Crime Squad’s Martin Turner testified that Steve was the current leader of the Gum Wah, and a leader of the Red Eagles as far back as 1978; that he was attacked by the Lotus gang at Churchill Secondary in 1983; that Wong was at a friend’s house on October 6, 1984, when his friend was shot in the back; that the next day Wong was in Denny’s restaurant when another person was shot; that Wong was shot at by a suspected Lotus member the next month; that an Uzi machine pistol had been seized from his house during a police raid in 1985; and that a switchblade was then seized from his vehicle as he cruised Britannia. Last but not least, the police believed that Wong was a heroin trafficker. Indeed, by the time the judge handed down his decision on the gun permit at the end of November 1988, Wong had been indicted for conspiring to traffic heroin. (The charges were later stayed when his lawyer successfully challenged the admissibility of a wiretap.) In his reasons for denying the permit, Judge Keith Libby archly remarked that, despite Wong’s contention he was an upright citizen whose favorite hobby was target practice, it was “almost too coincidental” that he’d been found in the vicinity of so many shootings, gun seizures, and gang rumbles. “There was even more we could have said,” Chu would later tell me. “He was a good suspect in a rip-off a few years back, that son of a bitch. We’re convinced he shot a Triad guy in a heroin deal in front of the Blue Boy Hotel. He was very lucky in not getting caught in that one.” Steve, in fact, had been right there in the parking lot at the time of the shooting, and, as was his habit, just after the shooting he had phoned the police on his cell phone, claiming a car had pulled up and someone inside had blasted the fellow before squealing away. “It’s ruthlessness like that allows him to push the Eagles aside and maneuver in his Gum Wah,” Chu said.

Ruthlessness was the watchword of another of the Asian squad’s targets, the Dai Huen Jai, or Big Circle Boys. Occasionally working in cooperation with other gangs like the Gum Wah and Lotus, but always staying apart from their internecine wars, the Big Circle Boys got their start in 1967 as a tight corps of People’s Republic of China soldiers stationed around Guangzhou on bases that were identified on army maps by big circles—hence their English name. Involved in Sgt. Bilko-type corruption scams, they were purged from the army and handed over to the fanatical cadres of the Cultural Revolution. Like millions of others with “capitalist tendencies” during that era, they were thrown into re-education prisons where they were put to punishing hard labor. A group of them escaped to Hong Kong, semi-legitimately claiming refugee status, and quickly got back in the rackets, with some joining the wave of Asian refugees that came to North America after 1975. These were the vanguard of many Big Circle Boys to follow, a fair proportion of whom had never endured the Cultural Revolution at all and were flat-out bogus refugees who would form a loose affiliation of businesslike cells around the world. Like the Red Eagles, like Steve, they spoke Cantonese, and fit right into Chinatown’s crime scene—extortion, smuggling, murder, and the armed robbery of new immigrants.

Certain extremely violent Vietnamese “no-name gangs” were also on the rise—along Kingsway, the wide thoroughfare that slices diagonally through working-class Vancouver from near Chinatown to the city’s border with Burnaby. A section of this commercial avenue, a few miles southeast of Britannia, had been dubbed Little Saigon, and the no-name gangs—of pure Vietnamese extraction—were generally referred to by the police by the first names of their bosses, as in “Lee’s boys” or “Danny’s boys.” The Chinese gangs had a near-racist contempt for these Vietnamese kids, whom they considered to be the lowest of the low because of their total disregard of innocent (usually Chinese) people’s lives. It was the war-hardened Vietnamese who invented and made famous the “home-invasion” robbery technique, in which a crew would pile through the door of a Chinese mansion and at gunpoint put the whole family up against a wall, torturing one or more occupants until someone revealed where the cash was hidden and usually raping the women in the house before leaving. Quite often the gangs doing the robbing and raping were on exchange programs from other cities across the continent. Marcus Franks, Bill Chu’s counterpart in Westminster, California, an L.A. suburb with a population that was 50 percent Vietnamese, told me Vancouver’s teens would take morning flights to Los Angeles and drop in on a Vietnamese café. There they would learn from their compatriots the location of a likely Chinese candidate for a home invasion. They would pull a job that night and the next morning be back in Vancouver sipping sweet coffee on Kingsway, open to a reciprocal arrangement when Vietnamese gangsters from L.A. or Houston flew in. Fearing murder by the local Vietnamese gangs, the victims would rarely report the home invasions. Indeed, one of the greatest ironies of the late-′80s gang scene in Vancouver was that the Chinese gangs saw themselves as the only force that stood between their own community and the anarchic Vietnamese.

Oddly enough, it was not the Oriental gangs that caused the Vancouver School Board to finally set to work developing a gang-awareness component in its curriculum. It was the aforementioned Los Diablos, the least organized and least Oriental of all the competing groups. Possessing the extroverted panache of an L.A. color gang, the LD was the one on the lips of my upper-class students in Sentinel Secondary School when I started teaching there in September. The equal-opportunity gang’s members—Hindu Indians, Muslim Middle Easterners, Catholic Filipinos and Hispanics, with the odd white Protestant thrown in for good measure—lived along the southernmost stretch of Kingsway where it cut through Red Eagles-Gum Wah territory. Boldly announcing themselves with red-and-black Puma tracksuits, they began to clash with Steve’s boys. The big turning point in the evolution of Los Diablos came when the Lotus saw an opportunity to bring them under their sway as gofers and enforcers in their battles with the Red Eagles-Gum Wah. The Lotus needed a liaison, somebody to keep the crazy Los Diablos onside, and they found a likely candidate in a six-foot-two-inch 16-year-old with an expertise in martial arts. That was Bob Moieni, and of all the headline violence in 1987, Bob’s murder was the most disturbing to the educational system, lending some weight to a general feeling in the Chinese and Vietnamese communities that victimizing a young man not strictly considered Asian was somehow worse than victimizing an Asian.

Bob Moieni was initiated into the Lotus in March 1987, in a sloppy approximation of the ancient Triad ceremony, with a few ornate oaths and the drinking of blood-mixed wine. He was made an enforcer, which meant collecting extortion payments from Chinese restaurants and gambling parlors, and beating up rivals in other gangs. Wearing both his Lotus ring and Los Diablos tracksuit, Moieni skirmished with the Red Eagles-Gum Wah, the Viet Ching, and the Vietnamese gangs almost weekly. However, Moieni came from an aristocratic Tehran family and had been running with the gangs only since his expulsion from school a year ago. Apparently, the solidly criminal life he was leading began to take its toll on his conscience, for in late August he admitted to his older sister, Mattie, that he was now committing “very evil deeds.” She assumed he had then asked to leave the Lotus, because a couple of days later he told his family that if any Lotus gang members phoned, they should say he was not around.

A week into the fall school term, plainclothes police began visiting Moieni at home, spending a couple of hours at a time in his room on each visit, talking quietly. His mother, Robabeh, became convinced her son was informing on the Lotus as a way to get the police to lobby the schools to allow him back in. She was likely correct: the police were very worried about the Lotus’s explosive alliance with the Los Diablos against Steven Wong’s new gang.

Behind Steve’s recruitment capital of John Oliver Secondary School was a McDonald’s restaurant in whose parking lot the younger members of the Red Eagles-Gum Wah congregated with new recruits. While Moieni had ostensibly backed away from the Lotus, his Los Diablos gang friends were still in tight with a Lotus plan to outmaneuver the Gum Wah by sending the LD boys in strength into the area. It was both an invitation to combat and an attempt to make Steve’s gang lose face in front of prospective recruits.

On the night of September 17, 1987, a coleader of the Los Diablos named Yawer Khan led about a dozen LD to the parking lot. On the way, Khan phoned Bob to join the fun. Bob’s sister Mattie told me she was certain Bob refused, because after the call he began pacing the house nervously. The phone rang again, “and the way he was talking I knew it was one of the Lotus. They must have been persuading him or ordering him to do something.” Bob, who had been conspicuously absent from activities for a couple of weeks, his days interrupted only by occasional visits from the plainclothes police, agreed to go down to the rendezvous.

The fighting was brutal. Moieni showed up at the tail end of the battle to see that Yawer Khan had got the worst of it, beaten to the ground with a pool cue by Steven Wong’s young enforcer, Kim Tam, a onetime friend of Moieni’s until the day the two had joined warring gangs and become deadly enemies. The police arrived and began arresting the combatants. Khan was streaming blood and the police saw Bob point his fingers like a gun at Tam, as if to say, “You’re dead for this.”

Moieni was let out of custody a couple of hours later. Close to midnight, two plainclothes officers paid him another visit. Robabeh was furious. “They [the Lotus] must be watching the house!” Robabeh told me. “Because he was telling them [the Lotus], ‘No more, I am finished with you guys.’”

The next morning Moieni slept in while his mother and two sisters left home for work and school. Mattie was the last to leave. “I always, always locked the door. And I can picture it now—I locked the door. But the door wasn’t locked when Mom came in later.”

Later was just after 4 P.M. Moieni lay by the couch in the living room, bound and gagged, a bullet hole in the middle of his forehead. Beside his body was a turnip, used as a silencer for the gun, with a bullet track through it.

The family and most of my students were certain it was the Lotus who’d killed one of their own. Rumors that Bob had been trying to get out of the gang were so blatant among the Los Diablos members I talked to that I became certain it was the Lotus, too. Meanwhile, Kim Tam was not a suspect because he’d been arrested after the fight and was still in jail at the time of the murder—sometime between noon and 3 P.M., according to the coroner. As for Steven Wong, he had a solid alibi placing him at Fraser Billiards when Bob was shot. Goathead offered me what I took to be an overly excessive protestation in defense of his gang: “I never hear nobody say anything bad about him. That is the truth. You should look the fellows he fight with.”

The police naturally said nothing at the time, but two years later, when I began to look more closely at Steven Wong, Bill Chu shared the following about Moieni’s cold case. “I don’t think it was his own group that murdered him,” Chu told me. “We have [other] suspects in mind.” A year later, Martin Turner, who by then had transferred to the Transit Police, was slightly more specific in his speculations. “I still believe it was the Gum Wah. It’s the most logical; and that’s the one I would like to go with if I were putting money on it.” Turner, who had been monitoring the affiliation between the Lotus and Los Diablos at the time of Moieni’s murder, put himself in Steve’s boots: “It was building up to where it was tit-for-tat fighting. We won today, we lost tomorrow. And that’s no good, you gotta keep winning and put the other guy down.” His hypothosis about the killing pointed to the Gum Wah: “This is becoming a pain in the ass for Steven. It’s drawing a lot of attention to his group. It’s hard to move around. You’ve got fights going on which no one is really winning. So now it’s time to show who’s tough guy on the block. ‘Let’s go kill him then.’”

For two years after Moieni’s murder, open war raged between the Gum Wah and the Lotus and Los Diablos, with each gang doing independent battle with the Vietnamese and the remnants of the Viet Ching. In October 1987, Wayne Shi Mah was shot and wounded in front of a downtown nightclub. A few months after that, a spectacular running gun battle took place on a Woodland Drive overpass between two dozen members of Los Diablos and the Gum Wah (still called the Red Eagles in the press). The Wild West shoot-out peppered the surrounding houses with bullet holes and badly wounded one of Steve’s up-and-coming lieutenants. In the opening three weeks of the 1988 school year, the police broke up 14 battles between the Eagles-Gum Wah and Los Diablos, prompting the department to set up a special Southside Gang Squad.

By the winter of 1989, with Wayne Shi Mah out of the picture and the Eagles almost completely absorbed by the Gum Wah, the Lotus gang, now claiming Chinatown as its own, tried a final push against Steve, making a direct power play in Gum Wah territory by sending their own troops to recruit around John Oliver, with orders to murder any Gum Wah who might interfere. They lost that battle: Kim Tam ambushed their raid with a platoon of Gum Wah. The next evening, the Lotus attempted to burn down Kim Tam’s house. Steven Wong tracked down the driver of the getaway car, Jimmy Wu, and terrorized him until he gave up the Lotus arsonists. Tam then hunted the perpetrators until he found them extorting a hairdresser’s in Gum Wah territory, and pounded their heads into a table. The Lotus retaliated by pressing charges for assault, followed by a series of drive-by shootings at the home of Steve’s boys. Finally, Steve had had enough. In late December 1989, strategizing like a 19th-century general, he decided it was time to carry the war into the heart of the enemy’s territory. That was when he targeted the Goldstone.


*At the end of my last teacher practicum New York Newsday ran a retrospective on my high school graduating class and made my troubles a matter of record: “Terry Gould was different from most of his Wingate classmates. He went to school drunk some days, smoked marijuana and had an active sex life. A former child model who appeared as the kid behind Colgate’s invisible Gardol shield, he fashioned himself a writer in high school and published a poem about his drunken thoughts in the student literary magazine. One teacher remembers him as brilliant but troubled.” “Wingate High School Class of 1967—20 Years Later,” New York Newsday, June 10, 1987.
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I, Mary 0ug, of logal sge, Filipino, with postal adirans st Camp Aguiaido,
Sreeilgence Service of the Arsed Forces of che Philippines. Fardiss havins
Do Gy meorn in accoretnce vith Lot 0 haresy dspoce st state that:

1. Batwean 1993 and 2001 1 served as an undarcouar agent for the FhLlippine
Nitlonal Folice (o) and the Royal Hend Kons Folice

2. My duties as a police agent inciuded pesecsating Chinese Trisd gu
23" the 14K, 'and to arranse sting cperations fatgeced st he srredt of
iyt

3. Because of ay undezcorer police work and testimony that T gave in 2001
Dstore the Sunate of che PR{Lippines eTaRding Soreubt samior pelice
Gtticars and politiciens, 1 s Currently Living under  witesss-protection
Progran. 1 and =y fonily are Nossed in special quacters st the heasauartes
G2 The incelligence Service of tha Armed Forces of the Philippines, at Camp
Rpuinardo.

4. on rebruary 3, 2003, Canadian Journaiist Tecry Gould visited me at my
Clnp Aguinaids protective quariers.

5. Torey Gould showed me o corrent (Januacy 17, 2003) Intarpol Red Alact
Wantad Bostar of & Canadian Fugitive named Staven Lik Man Rond, vanted in
Canada for drug traticking.

6. Torey Gould also showed mo othes photos of Steven Wong which displayed
e O e E At Sactorans and on his

7. 1 imadiately recomized Steren Wong
Livestigecion 1 pecticipated in becuees 1ace 1951 and mLe-1996, T
Fecognited Ne. Wong's chest tactoos, Ms Reight (5-feess | nche), nd his
Sveruighe stacure: © imsediately recalied his atfiliscion wish oo 10K
TN 1T Maniia. and Hong Kong.

e aubject of an undercoves e

3. During the period T knew hin, Steven ong as sing his zesl name smong

9. During the NP undercoves Lnvestigation, I lesrned that Steven Wong as
Rihly maoile, with gesd connactions”in Sapan, Heng Kong a0 Maces.

10. ouring he P undaccover investigation I lesrmed chat Steven Weng's
53K Telodbons wos one Crong Yak Suk, of Hon Kong.

51, During che PP undercover cperstion, 1 introduced Steven Wong €0 &
priminant fensla drug sauagier in FaKeth, Weiso Manila. Steven Hong then
BeCene the Thin” supplicr of Large duamcition of ilegal arugs 5o the femaie

mgler.

52. The femaie smuggier vorked in league With a politically prominent
Faaly'in Cavice Frovince.

13, The PAD undezcover cperstion vas terminated in 1996 without any axsests
being made.
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